
1 
 

College’s headquarters from 1944: eight locations in London 

 

 

Heaven (1975, p. 1) 

 

During its 75 years existence to date, the Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists (RCSLT) has 
had its headquarters in eight different London locations. Travelled by road, the distance from the first to 
eighth is only about 20 miles. All but the latest were located north of the Thames. 

To start with, the College was based in what had been the office in Harley Street of the British Society of 
Speech Therapists (BSST) (one of the precursor organisations). According to Wilkins (1977, p. 1), the 
other precursor organisation (Association of Speech Therapists) in the late 1930s didn’t have an office 
but met in members’ flats.  

Excerpt from Wilkins (1977) 

Minutes from the Remedial Section of the Association of Teachers of Speech and Drama’s meetings in 
1942 and 1943 (in the RCSLT collection at Strathclyde University) rarely note a location but do 
potentially confirm Wilkins’ statement about the pre-second world war years, eg the 30 January 1943 
meeting was held at 27, Welbeck Street (Mabel Oswald’s address in 1953, Bulletin No. 40, but maybe 
not in 1943 as Miss Oswald was a founding member of BSST - the ‘rival’ organisation) and the 31 May 
1943 meeting at Dolphin Square (address of Daisy Harries, Bulletin No. 3). The meeting of 17 August 
1942 was held in Springfield St Marys, Oxford (a hostel for students)1, perhaps as a result of evacuation 
or because of Joan Dakin being based in Oxford. At that time and for some time after the end of the 
second world war, renting property in London was difficult because of limited supply and high costs.  

 
1 https://www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/oxon/vol3/pp351-353 
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After several temporary addresses, College settled in Queen’s Gardens for 17 years before moving again 
to St Johns Wood High Street in the 1960s, where it remained for more than a decade. For the first time, 
College owned its HQ in 1977: Harold Poster House. It outgrew the property again and after 15 years, 
bought a modern property in Bath Place. For several reasons, including size and access for people with 
disability, RCSLT moved to its current location in 1999. HQ addresses are shown in the table and 
information about them in the narrative below, with most of the information derived from Bulletin 
(RCSLT’s magazine). 

 

 

Year Address Distance (miles) from previous 
 location by car 

1944 86 Harley Street, W1G 7HP  
1946 6 Sussex Gardens, W2 1UL (temporary) 1.2 
1946 27 Southwick Street, W2 1JQ (temporary) 0.2 
1947 68 Queen’s Gardens, W2 3AH 0.6 
1964 47 St Johns Wood High Street, NW8 7NJ 2.4 
1977 Harold Poster House, 6 Lechmere Road, Willesden, NW2 5BU 3.7 
1992 7 Bath Place, Rivington Street, EC2A 3DR 8.1 
1999 2 White Hart Yard, SE1 1NX 3.4 

 

 

 

 

The first College headquarters was briefly at BSST HQ ‘on the third floor of a house in Harley Street’ 
(Wilkins, 1977). However, by 23 July 1945 - ‘We have left our offices and not yet been able to get new 
premises, though we are in negotiation, so we are working under the most difficult conditions at 
present’ (letter from Eileen MacLeod). The lease had expired and could not be renewed (notice in 
Bulletin No. 3). The College HQ accommodation situation as at September 1946 is described in detail in a 
letter to Bulletin by Marion Fleming (see Appendix 1). 

https://collage.cityoflondon.gov.uk/view-item?i=104491&WINID=1603457320752 (86-88 Harley Street 
in 1952) (accessed 20 January 2021) 

- in 2020, this address houses a variety of clinics, including gynaecology, dental and eye. 
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Following a couple of temporary moves, the College HQ was established next in Queen’s Gardens. ‘Miss 
Beryl Oldrey (Mrs Hammond) found a room for us on the ground floor of a block of flats … It was one 
large room with a cloakroom at the back, and we had to enter the house by the side door, not the main 
entrance to the flats.  For what seemed like years I recall we entered this door over planks placed across 
“the biggest hole in London” …. ‘We had to find money to buy a table and chairs, curtains for the large 
windows, a carpet for the floor and office equipment.  …  Then as the work increased we rented a 
second, smaller room on the same floor as the office for the use of the examinations committee’ 
(Wilkins, 1977). 

Marion Fleming’s notice in Bulletin No. 10 in June 1947 (see Appendix 2) showed the make do and mend 
attitude required at the time to furnish the new HQ. Miss van Thal, Miss Peachey, Dr Stein and Miss 
Kingdon Ward gave 1/- for every £1 raised above the Southern Area Furnishing Fund target of £100 (in 
addition to their own contributions) (Bulletin No. 12). The fund contributed more than £150, presumably 
this was towards the cost of furnishing HQ. 

http://www.jmwbarnard.com/office-property/39-68-queens-gardens-w2.php (accessed 20 January 
2021) 

http://sloanmanagement.co.uk/about-us/history/ (2020 occupant) (accessed 20 January 2021) 

 

 

By 1963, College was looking to buy a property ‘so that it might be more properly housed’ (see Appendix 
3). One member enquired whether College would consider moving its HQ outwith London to reduce 
cost (letter from Patricia Wight, Bulletin No. 150) (see excerpt below). 
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The reply by Miss van Thal in Bulletin No. 51 explained why a move out of London was not a good one 
(see below). 

 

The Chairman’s address at the 1964 AGM on 30 May (in Bulletin No. 153) included that College 
accountants had advised 

 

The move to rented premises in St John’s Wood High Street was announced in Bulletin No. 153 by the 
Chairman (see Appendix 3). Its front page also gave a clue. The property is described as ‘3 rooms in a flat 
in the suburbs’ (Robertson et al, 1995, p. 64). The three rooms housed Pat Fishman (secretary), the 
Examinations Committee and the general office (see Appendix 4). 
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Heaven (1975, p. 1) (above) describes the College’s accommodation in unromantic terms.  

https://www.retailgazette.co.uk/blog/2020/01/st-johns-wood-high-street-spotlight-north-london-
abbey-road/ (accessed 20 January 2021) 

- describes the street in 2020 

https://committees.westminster.gov.uk/documents/s37928/ITEM%2003%20-%2047%20-
%2049%20ST%20JOHNS%20WOOD%20HIGH%20STREET%20LONDON.pdf (accessed 20 January 2021) 

- current look and layout of the address (the ground floor recently housed a Gap Kids shop) 

 

 

The Chairman’s address at the 1977 CST AGM provides a very detailed description of the process of the 
first property purchase made by CST - a very significant moment for the organisation (Wilkins, 1977). 
Mrs Greenwood (then Deputy Treasurer) had looked for rented premises in 1976 as HQ accommodation 
had been inadequate and the lease was due to be renewed in 1977 (see Appendix 5). She announced 
the acquisition at auction of new premises in October 1976 (see Appendix 5). The house had been 
bought at auction, freehold, for £20,000 in September 1976. CST had to raise £17,000 (it had £10,000 
available) to cover refurbishment. Mrs Greenwood requested that each member donate £6 to the 
College Building Appeal, which would clear the debt. £2,019.50 had been donated by Bulletin No. 296 
and £3,393 by No. 300.   

Council named the premises Harold Poster House (Bulletin No. 300) after the man2 who provided a 
substantial donation towards the cost of the building, provided the office furniture and an opening 
reception. He was the Chairman of AVP Industries Ltd, London N18. Mr Poster was also Chairman of the 

 
2 http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/a2a/records.aspx?cat=074-acc3650&cid=0#0 (accessed 20 January 2021) 
Re: Harold Poster – says he died suddenly in January 1976 – can’t be correct as there is a letter from him to CST 
Chairman on 26.7.77.  Profile in Bulletin No. 303 and obituary in Bulletin No. 311 – March 1978. 
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Appeals Committee of the National Speech Therapy Development Trust. The terraced house (over three 
floors) had been the office of ‘Pretan’, a building firm. It was in a quiet road with no through traffic. It 
had eleven rooms: nine of which were of a good size and two small rooms in the attic. The yard at the 
back had two light industrial workshops that could be let. Rent of these would all but cover rates. Sir 
Sigmund Sternberg (Trustee/Chairman of the National Speech Therapy Development Trust) advised. His 
profile is in Bulletin No. 303. He had come into contact with speech therapists in training while serving 
on the North West Metropolitan Hospital Board. For the auction Sir Sternberg sent someone 
experienced, whose bid of £20,000 to buy the property was accepted. With the house came adequate 
car parking, it was within five minutes of two Tube stations (Willesden Green and Dollis Hill) and several 
buses passed the end of the road. It was very convenient for the current office staff, shops, library and 
there was a post office nearby (letter from Chairman of Council to Joyce Wilkins, 11 October 1976).  

It was officially opened on 13 July 1977 by Mrs Audrey Callaghan (wife of the Prime Minister at the time) 
(see Appendix 6), decorated, carpeted and furnished throughout with the generous financial help of 
benefactors.  The Arts Council lent College six paintings by British artists, on a two-year loan basis. The 
house is pictured in Robertson et al (1995, p. 64). 

Joyce Cook (letter to Linda Armstrong, 25 March 2003) comparing the St Johns Wood and Willesden 
premises, based on comments made in Greenwood (1976): ‘I nearly went into orbit re: the ‘close by’ 
remark – St Johns Wood + Willseden. The former was easy to get at by tube or bus – Willesden was 
further out, a long walk from the tube + a dreary straggling High Street with greengrocers selling fruit + 
vegetable that one had never seen before. A ghastly area. St Johns Wood had expensive shops - with 
lovely window displays – a delight to feast your eyes on after a long Council meeting – also there were 
handy pubs, good restaurants + coffee shops. But we’d no space. The Council meetings took place in the 
general office so they went in the secretary room – that had the kitchen going off.’ 

Initial delight with the accommodation in Harold Poster House in 1977 changed by 1986 to 
dissatisfaction with its location and size.  A working party was set up to consider a move (Bulletin No. 
412).  It recommended that CST should stay in London – this met with some Scottish resistance – and 
members’ views were sought (Bulletin No. 418).  Major repairs to HP House were required (Bulletin No. 
425). 

Harold Poster House was put up for sale in 1991 (Bulletin No. 467, with snowy picture), with College 
‘actively seeking a building which will provide more suitable accommodation and help to satisfy the 
demands and aspirations of its members for improved services and better facilities’.   

https://themovemarket.com/tools/propertyprices/6b-lechmere-road-london-brent-greater-london-
nw2-5bu (accessed 20 January 2021) 

- the property seems since to have been divided into flats. 
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A probable new property in Hoxton Square, London N1 was pictured in Bulletin No. 469. The purchase of 
7 Bath Place is reported in Bulletin No. 480 and goodbye was said to the old property in Bulletin No. 481. 
The building is featured in Robertson et al (1995, p. 65). The Lord Mayor of London carried out its official 
opening (Bulletin Nos 492, 494).  

A CSLT renaissance programme was announced in Bulletin No. 483, during which sectors of the 
profession were invited to the new HQ. The first event was for retired and distinguished members 
(picture and report in Bulletin No. 486). It was followed by a day for advisers, SIGs and specialist groups, 
which produced a follow-up meeting (Bulletin Nos 486, 490, 492). Students (Bulletin No. 493) and local 
groups Bulletin (No. 489) also had renaissance days.  

https://www.movehut.co.uk/property/593446-7-bath-place-rivington-street-london-ec2a-3dr/ 

- advertised for rent in 2020 (accessed 20 January 2021) 

 

 

HQ stayed in London but moved to White Hart Yard in 1999, because of issues of space, storage and 
disabled access to Bath Place (Bulletin Nos 561, 565, 570). Lord Ashley officially opened the new 
premises in June 2000 (Bulletin No. 580). The building was closed for refurbishment from October 2012 
to January 2013. The temporary HQ address during refurbishment was Suite 702, Capital Tower, 91 
Waterloo Road, London SE1 8RT. 
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Appendix 1 Letter from Marion Fleming in Bulletin No. 3, outlining accommodation difficulties 
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Appendix 2 Financing the furnishing at Queen’s Gardens (Marion Fleming, Bulletin No. 10) 
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Appendix 3 Excerpt from the Chairman’s address at the 1963 AGM , follow-up letter from the new 
Chairman of Council about College wanting to buy property (Bulletin 145) and announcement about 
new rented premises (Bulletin 153) 
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Appendix 4 Excerpts from the Chairman’s 1977 AGM address 

 

 

 

 

..on St John’s Wood HQ 

 

..on Harold Poster House 
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Appendix 5 Greenwood (1976) on the purchase of Harold Poster House 
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Appendix 6 Excerpt from the press release for the opening of Harold Poster House 

 

 

 

NB Frank Harcourt-Munning founded War on Want Ltd 


